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RECEIVED

Inre: )

)
Cricket Hollow Zoo, Inc., an Iowa corporation; ) Docket No. 15-0152 (AWA),
Pamela J. Sellner, an individual; ) Docket No. 15-0153 (AWA),

Thomas J. Sellner, an individual; and ) Docket No. 15-0154 (AWA), and

Pamela J. Sellner Tom J. Sellner, an Iowa general ) Docket No. 15-0155 (AWA)

partnership d/b/a Cricket Hollow Zoo, )

)

Respondents. )

DECISION AND ORDER

A ances:

Colleen Carroll, Esq. and Matthew Weiner, Esq. of the Office of the General Counsel,
United States, Department of Agriculture (“OGC "), Washington, D.C., for Complainant,
the Administrator of the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (“APHIS”); and

Larry J. Thorson, Esq. of Ackley Kopecky & Kingery, L.L.P., Cedar Rapids, lowa, for
Respondents, Cricket Hollow Zoo, Inc., an lowa corporation; Pamela J. Sellner, an
individual; Thomas J. Sellner, an individual; and Pamela J. Sellner Tom J. Sellner, an
lowa general partnership d/b/a Cricket Hollow Zoo (collectively, “Respondents”).

Before Administrative Law Judge, Channing D. Strother.

SUMMARY OF DECISION

This is a disciplinary proceeding under the Animal Welfare Act (“AWA).! The evidence

shows that Respondents are hardworking and do not wish to harm their animals. And at least

some of those who come to see, and even volunteer work at, this private zoo enjoy it. But the

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (“APHIS”), although it did not prove every alleged

violation, demonstrated in the record the zoo has had numerous violations over time, requiring

repeated visits by APHIS inspection personnel. The record shows that there were insufficient zoo

'7U.S.C. §§ 2131 et seq.






standards issued thereunder® (“Regulations and Standards”). Respondents’ August 20, 2015
timely Answer, among other things, admits the jurisdictional allegations and certain others, and
requests a hearing.

The case was reassigned by the Chief Administrative Law Judge to the undersigned on
August 23, 2016. It is properly before me for resolution.

The burden of proof is on Complainant, APHIS.” The standard of proof applicable to
adjudicatory proceedings under the Administrative Procedure Act,® such as this one, is the
preponderance of the evidence.’ A preponderance of the evidence here supports findings that, in
most but not all instances, Respondents violated the Regulations and Standards as alleged in the
Complaint. At each of the relevant inspections conducted by APHIS, the inspectors documented
their observations of Respondents’ facilities, animals, and records. The inspectors took
photographs during the inspections, conducted post-inspection exit interviews with Respondents
to explain their findings, and gave Respondents copies of inspection reports that described the
deficiencies.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
The July 30, 2015 APHIS Complaint alleges Respondents violated the AWA and

Regulations on multiple occasions between June 2013 and May 2015. Respondents’ August 20,

69 C.F.R. §§ 1.1 et seq.
75 U.S.C. § 556(d). See JSG Trading Corp., 57 Agric. Dec. 710, 72122 (U.S.D.A. 1998).
$5U.S.C. §§ 551 et seq.

% See JSG Trading Corp., 57 Agric. Dec. at 724 (a non-AWA proceeding discussing the
application Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 556(d), and citing precedent).
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initiated because of public complaints;'¢ Respondents corrected the deficiencies that APHIS
inspectors identified;'” the Regulations and Standards are unconstitutionally vague and therefore
unenforceable against Respondents;'® APHIS unreasonably demanded “perfection” of
Respondents but did not provide information as to what such perfection would consist of;'® and
Respondents’ veterinarian and a state inspector did not believe Respondents' animals suffered.?’
Essentially, in many respects, Respondents blame APHIS for their failure to pass inspections. As
discussed hereinbelow, these defensive contentions by Respondents are not supported by the
AWA, the Regulations and Standards, or case law.

Being hardworking, having genuine affection for one’s animals and otherwise having a
sincere subjective intent to take good care of and not to harm them, and correcting violations
after they were found in inspections are all admirable things. But a good work ethic anci good
intentions are not defenses to objective AWA violations found by APHIS inspectors.

APHIS enforces the AWA and the Regulations and Standards through “unannounced”
inspections. Licensees are responsible for violations found during such inspections. Violations

corrected after they are found by inspectors still “count” as AWA violations.?' Licensees must

16 Id. at 2, 39; Tr. 545:22-546:7, 731:17-21.

17 AB at 39-40; Tr. 150:5-17.

'8 AB at 7-10.

1% Id_ at 5-6.

20 Id. at 15, 33-34; Tr. 568:1-25, 569:1-6, 577:20-23, 580:23-25, 581:1-3.

2! See Parr, 59 Agric. Dec. 601, 624 (U.S.D.A. 2000)(“It is well settled that a correction of a
violation of the Animal Welfare Act or the Regulations and Standards does not eliminate the fact
that the violation occurred.”).



have a workforce sufficient to meet the AWA requirements and must be sufficiently
knowledgeable as to the pertinent animal husbandry in order to meet the AWA requirements.?
While APHIS inspections and inspectors may provide some education to licensees as to what the
AWA and the Regulations and Standards require, the primary role of such APHIS personnel
must be enforcement, and the primary means of such enforcement is through unscheduled
“surprise” inspections.”> APHIS does not have the budget, workforce, or authority to educate
licensees as to the requirements or to review licensee’s compliance, except through inspections

that may have consequences for licensees if those inspections reveal AWA violations.?*

2 1t is notable that during 2013 to 2015 period in which Cricket Hollow was being cited for the
AWA violations at issue in this proceeding, it was acquiring more animals. In 2013, the Sellner
Partnership represented to APHIS that it had custody of 160 animals; in 2014, 170 animals; and
in 2015, 193 animals. Answer § 5; CX 1; CX 14.

2 See Hodgins v. U.S. Dep'’t of Agric., 238 F.3d 421, 2000 WL 1785733, at *7 (6th Cir. 2000)
(“The purposes served by the Animal Welfare Act are such as to present a need for surprise
inspections. Stolen animals, for example, like stolen cars, can be moved or disposed of quickly.
Dirty cages could be cleaned, improperly-treated animals euthanized or hidden, and records
falsified in short order should a search be announced ahead of time.”)(unpublished opinion; see 6
Cir. R. 32.1 (unpublished opinions are citable); Berosini, 54 Agric. Dec. 886, 908 (U.S.D.A.
1995) (“The success of the Animal Welfare Act regulatory program is critically dependent upon
the ability of APHIS inspectors to conduct thorough inspections to monitor compliance with the
applicable regulations and standards.”) (citing Sema, Inc., 49 Agric. Dec. 176, 183 (U.S.D.A.
1990)); Animal Welfare; Inspection, Licensing, and Procurement of Animals, 69 Fed. Reg.
42,089, 42,094 (July 14, 2004) (to be codified at 9 C.F.R. pts. 1, 2) (“Enforcement of the AWA
is based on random, unannounced inspections to determine compliance.”).

24 See Davenport, 57 Agric. Dec. 189, 209 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (“[I]t is the Respondent’s duty to be
in compliance with the [Animal Welfare] Act, and the Regulations and Standards at all times. It
is not the duty of APHIS inspectors to instruct licensees as to the details of meeting those
requirements. Inspectors do not certify or otherwise approve facilities, and conveyances are not
required to be inspected or approved before they can be used.”).

8



Licensees are obligated obtain the skills and knowledge to meet the AWA, Regulations, and
Standards through means other than what licensees may be told by the inspectors.?’

Repeated violations by a particular licensee,?® even where violations are corrected after
the inspection and the violation are not exactly the same violation or violation-type as earlier
violations, run afoul of APHIS’s enforcement through surprise inspection program and unduly
strain APHIS resources, as violations necessarily require follow-up for the particular violations
and more frequent APHIS attention to the particular licensee that appears to not be meeting
AWA requirements.?’

There is no pleasure in sanctioning licensees with warm feelings and subjectively good
intentions. But in the circumstances here, sanctions must be applied to protect the animals, the
public, and, indeed, the licensees themselves.

I Respondents’ Failure to Provide Access®®

The AWA and the Regulations each require that licensees provide APHIS inspectors

2329

access to facilities, animals, and records during “business hours”*” and that “a responsible adult

%5 See id.; Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec. 166, 256 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (finding that respondent
was “presumed to know the law” with regard to AWA requirements published in United States
Code and was on constructive notice of AWA regulations published in Federal Register).

%6 The Sellners entered into two stipulated settlements with the USDA, one in April of 2007 (CX
64) and one in July of 2013 (CX 66), in which the licensee did not admit alleged violations. See
Gibbens, Tr. 523. Respondents’ state that these stipulations are not probative of repeated
violations by them or any bad faith. I agree. For purposes of the current case, the stipulations are
probative only of Respondent’s general knowledge of AWA requirements that must be met.

27 See Dr. Gibbens, Tr. 727:15-728:1.
28 Complaint 9 9.
2 See 7U.S.C. § 2146(a); 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(a).
























are with respect to adequate veterinary care.' %

A. June 12, 2013 (Cynthia)
During their inspection on June 12, 201 3, Drs. Cooper and Shaver determined that a female

capuchin monkey (Cynthia) was in need of veterinary care and had not been evaluated by a

63

veterinarian.”” They documented their observations in a contemporaneous inspection report, CX

2, and took photographs of Cynthia, all of which they authenticated and explained.%* Dr. Cooper
also prepared a declaration, CX 19, in which she stated:5’

[A]s I recall, the licensee was unable to provide myself and Dr.
Shaver with a copy of the medical record pertaining to a female
capuchin monkey named “Cynthia”. I do not recall reviewing
medical records of environmental enhancement documentation
addressing “Cynthia’s” hair loss condition which was observed and
documented by myself and Dr. Shaver as a veterinary care non-

compliance.

81 Tr. 588:23-589:22 (“I’m not terribly familiar with the USDA method of recording their US —
or on their actual inspections.”); 590:1-3 (“I would have to say I’m not, I’m not familiar with the
specifics of the USDA, only in a general sense they would be similar.”); 598:7—18 (regarding
reliance on Dr. Cole); 601:22-24; 601:25-602 (Mr. Anderson’s “practical experience in
examining animals” is having been a livestock inspector, and looking at “a lot of kennels and
livestock....usually accompanied by either a veterinarian or another livestock inspector,” and
“we would look for obvious signs of animals in distress, you know, from open wounds, sores,
labored breathing, discharge from orifices.”). See Tr. 588:18-22.

62 Mr. Anderson could not confirm that RX 25 comprised “all of the reports from inspections
conducted by IDALS between April 17, 2012, and October 7, 2014,” or whether there were other
reports missing from RX 25. Tr. 585:3-11. Mr. Anderson acknowledged that RX 25, page 10,
was not a complete copy of the report. Id.; Tr. 585:12-586:1; see also Tr. 586:2-9 (no photos
attached to the record version of Dr. Eiben’s report, although it states photographs were
attached).

63 See Complaint § 10a; Answer § 10a.
6 CX 3; Tr. 50:10-52:23. See CX 2 at 1.
65 CX 19. See also Tr. 397:24-399:9.
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There is also mention in the record by Dr. Shaver of Cynthia being moved to a cage of a
vervet, a nonhuman primate of a different species, possibly in an effort to address behavioral
problems, but the plan for Cynthia had not been updated since the move.”®

APHIS has carried its burden to show by a preponderance of record evidence that, as of
the June 12, 2013 inspection, Cynthia was in need of veterinary care and had not been evaluated
by a veterinarian and that Respondents failed to develop, document, and follow an adequate plan
for environmental enhancement for Cynthia, who was self-mutilating. Although there is some
evidence of record that Respondents had some environmental enhancement plan for Cynthia,
Respondents have not brought forth the documentary evidence they were required to develop and
keep or other evidence that would overcome APHIS’s proof.

B. October 26, 2013 (Meishan Pigs)”’

It is undisputed that Respondents housed a pregnant Meishan pig who was due to farrow®’
in an outdoor enclosure, that the pig gave birth to four piglets, that three of the newborn piglets
died, and that a zoo visitor notified Mrs. Sellner that the pig had given birth. In APHIS’s December
16, 2013, inspection report, Dr. Cole wrote:®!

On Sunday October 26™ four piglets were born to a female
Meishan pig, three of which died. The licensee stated that a zoo
visitor notified her that the piglets were out in the cold. The
licensee immediately checked on the piglets. The licensee was

unaware that the piglets had been born that day. Three of the
piglets were dead and the one surviving piglet was taken into the

78 Dr. Shaver, Tr. 180-81.

7 See Complaint § 10(b); Answer § 10(b).

% Farrowing means “to give birth.” Tr. 308:3-6.
- 81CX 53 at 1. See also Tr. 305:7-307:20.
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It is uncontroverted that Dr. Pries was not made aware of the pregnant Meishan pig, the
conditions in which she was housed, or the subsequent deaths of the three piglets who were born
outdoors.*

The Respondents were responsible for ensuring that their animals received adequate
veterinary care and for having a program of adequate veterinary care that included the availability
of appropriate facilities. Respondents housed the pregnant sow outside and unattended, based on
an expectation that she would farrow on a date certain.®® Respondents failed to use an interior
enclosure for the pregnant pig or some other means to ensure that the pig and her soon-to-be-born
piglets would be protected from the weather, and failed to seek veterinary care for the pig in
advance of her farrowing.?’

Respondents’ witness, Mr. Anderson, and his written report indicate that the situation had
been remedied because “the sow had been moved to a better shelter so she couldn't have pigs out
in the cold in the winter again,” which indicates that he had concerns about the sow giving birth

out of doors in the weather at the time.*®

85 CX 21 at 1 (“Concerning the death of 3 Meishan piglets reportedly being born out in the cold
and dying on October 26, 2013, and cited on the USDA inspection report of December 16, 2013:

I was not aware of this issue of the piglets being born and possibly dying due to cold weather.”);
Tr. 498:14-21.

8 CX 22 at 18-19; CX 53 at 1; Answer § 10(b); Tr. 578:4-12, 590:4-591:18; 655:13-25, 657:4—
14.

7. CX 22 at 18-19; CX 53 at 1; Tr. 578:4-12; 590:4-591:18; 655:13-25; 657:4-14.
8 Tr. 590:4-591:18.
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[TThere was inconsequential hair loss at the base of the
coatimundi’s tail that was lost in a brief scuffle with another male
coatimundi. The veterinarian addressed this in his response to the
USDA.

On brief, Respondents state:'!°
Douglas Anderson mentioned the coatimundi in his testimony but
stated that the small patch of hair loss was not affecting this
animal. In his report from the day of the inspection, he states that

the area was not oozing and the animal was not scratching. (RXT-
25, p. 8 of 13).

It does not appear that the Sellners or Dr. Pries testified regarding the coatimundi’s hair
loss. Mr. Anderson, however, testified on direct that the hair loss “[d]idn’t appear to be affecting
it at the moment.”'!! Whether the hair loss appeared to Mr. Anderson “to be affecting” the
coatimundi “at the moment” is itself of not determinative. APHIS is not required to prove that
an animal is actively suffering, or visibly injured to establish a violation of the veterinary care
Regulations. Mr. Anderson does not possess veterinary medical training, and lacks knowledge
of the AWA Regulations.

Based on Dr. Cole’s report and testimony, APHIS carried its burden of proof as to this
allegation that Respondents failed to meet standards of veterinarian care.

3. Capybara.'"?

affidavit, however, was executed in January 2014, four months before Dr. Cole’s May 2014
inspection, and APHIS could find no mention of a coatimundi in his affidavit.

110 AB at 14-15.
LT, 581:1-3.
112 Complaint § 10(f); Answer 10(5).
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Dr. Cole noted:'!3

The capybara appears thin. The hip bones are prominent and the
animal has scaly skin on the back half of the body with patches of
hair-loss around the base of the tail and the backbone. The
licensee states that this animal is old and no veterinarian has been
consulted regarding these conditions.

Failure to seek medical care for the conditions listed above can
lead to unnecessary pain and discomfort for the animals.

The animals listed above must be examined by a licensed
veterinarian BY 5:00 PM ON MAY 23, 2014 in order to ensure
that an accurate diagnosis is obtained and an appropriate treatment
plan is developed and followed. This information, including the
diagnosis, treatment and resolution of the condition, must be
documented and made available to the inspector upon request.

Dr. Cole’s contemporaneous photographs of the capybara corroborate her testimony.''*

In their Answer Respondents denied the alleged violation. On brief, they simply
referenced that Mrs. Sellners told Dr. Cole the animal is old and that the animal reflected the
aging process.'!> Neither the Sellners nor Dr. Pries appear to have testified as to this allegation.
On direct examination, Mr. Anderson testified that the capybara “[d]id not appear to be”
demonstrating “suffering or showing ill effects in any way,” but on cross-examination Mr.
Anderson conceded that he did not know, from a veterinary medical standpoint, that the capybara

was not “suffering in any way.”!!¢

I3 CX 69 at 1. See Tr. 318:22-319:8; 441:10-17.
114 CX 69a at 3-5; Tr. 320:8-321:4
115 AB at 15.
116 Tr, 595:19-596:1.
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Respondents’ Answer defense is without merit, as it does not appear that the Barbados
wether was a recent arrival to Respondents’ facility. According to Dr. Cole’s inspection report,
Mrs. Sellner stated that “all sheep hooves were trimmed on December 27, 2013,” four months
earlier. Presumably this included the one sheep whose hooves were the subject of Dr. Cole’s
concern.

As quoted above, Dr. Cole’s inspection report explains: “Excessively long hooves can
cause pain and discomfort to the animals [and] may cause the animals to alter their stance or
their gait and create musculoskeletal related issues.” Those are not merely cosmetic concerns,
and Respondents proffered no evidence that they are. APHIS carried its burden on this
allegation.

E. August 5, 2014 (Macey)'?!

On August 5, 2014, Drs. Cole and Shaver noted:'%

Adult, female Old English Sheepdog named “Macey” has sores
behind both ears that are approximately one inch in diameter. The
areas are red and moist but there is no discharge. The dog was not
seen shaking her head or scratching the area. Skin lesions can be
caused by trauma, parasites/pests, and other medical problems and
can be painful. The licensee must have this animal examined by a
licensed veterinarian in order to ensure that an accurate diagnosis
is obtained and that an appropriate treatment plan is developed and
followed. The licensee must document the outcome of this
consultation and make it available to the inspector upon request.

The licensee stated that she is using “Nolvasan” antiseptic
ointment on the sores near the ears of the Old English Sheepdog.
The expiration date listed on the container is Oct 07. Expired
medications can experience spoilage or have reduced efficacy.

121 Complaint §10(h); Answer §10(h).
EEX T
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F. August 25,2014 - October 7, 2014 (Casper)'?’
On October 7, 2014, Dr. Cole and Dr. Shaver noted:'?*

There is [a] male, white tiger named ‘Casper’ (date of birth 6/04)
with an open wound on the inside of the left leg that is about two
inches by three inches in size. The skin around the wound is red
and swollen and the skin is pulled back exposing red tissue in two
places. Casper was seen licking this wound. The animal also has a
moderately thin body condition with mildly protruding hip bones
and vertebrae. This animal was acquired on 10 July 2014.
According to the licensee, he was thin and had cuts and sores on
his face and hands at that time and she had documented those
problems. The attending veterinarian evaluated the tiger on 25
August 2014. No treatment guidelines were given to the licensee
at that time. No treatment for the skin or wounds has been given to
this animal. The licensee gave deworming medication to the
animal on 14 September 2014 because of the thin body condition.
The licensee states that the animal has not gained weight as she
expected after the deworming medication was given. The
attending veterinarian has not evaluated this animal since initial
exam in August. Skin wounds can become infected and be painful
for the animal. Also, a thin body condition can indicate other
medical problems occurring in the animal. The licensee must have
this animal examined by a licensed veterinarian by close of
business on 9 October 2014 in order to ensure that an accurate
diagnosis for the thin body condition and skin wound is obtained
and that an appropriate treatment plan is developed and followed.
The licensee must document the outcome of this consultation,
including the diagnosis, treatment and resolution of the condition,
and make it available to the inspector upon request.

The inspectors took a photograph and video of Casper.'? Dr. Shaver testified at length about her

observations about Casper.'*

127 Complaint § 10(i); Answer § 10(i).

BBCX Tat 1.

129 CX 72a; CX 72b.

130 Tr, 107:19-110:16; 112:21-113:13; 145:2-146:22; 150:8-151:20: 153:156:25.
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Respondents’ Answer states “the tiger had issues,” and “came in to the respondents’ facility
in questionable condition,” and “den[ies] that the issues were the fault of the Respondents.”!*! It
states that Dr. Pries “stated that the tiger was going to abscess out and heal.”’*? On brief
Respondents contend:'**

Dr. Pries examined this tiger “Caspar” soon after it arrived at the
Zoo. It was injured in transport and Dr. Pries’ opinion was that the
wound on its inner front leg needed to abscess and heal. (Tr. p.
501, see also the report of Douglas Anderson, IDALS inspector,
who stated in his report that “it is old, has vision issues and poor
body condition...” RXT-25, p. 10). His medical records reflect his
examination of this cat. (RXT-26, p. 1 of 3 “exam of Caspar white
tiger.”) Mrs. Sellner was following the advice of her veterinarian.
None of the veterinarians who testified are big cat specialists and
none of them have as much experience as Dr. Pries in dealing with
big cats.

Respondents’ veterinary medical record for Casper contains only two notations: One noting
a vaccination and declawing; and another noting administration of Panacur, which is a dewormer,
on August 1, 2014."3* The veterinary records contain no mention of the cuts, sores, wounds, or
thinness observed and documented by Drs. Cole and Shaver. Dr. Pries’ testimony about Casper
reveals fhat his examination was visual only, and that he assumed that Mrs. Sellner “must have
been gaining with the antibiotics because I didn’t hear about it again.”'*’

Respondents’ contentions concerning Dr. Pries’ expertise as to big cats would be more

131 Answer § 5.
132 Id
133 AB at 16.
B4RX 10 at 15.
135 Tr. 502:2-9.
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compelling if there was evidence, especially medical records, of Dr. Pries being much involved in
the ongoing treatment of an animal that clearly had, as Respondents admit, “issues.” The evidence
shows that the Respondents violated the AWA as to Casper by providing inadequate veterinary

care.

III. Handling
Congress intended that animals be handled safely and carefully so as to ensure their health and

well-being. The Regulations provide:

Handling of all animals shall be done as expeditiously and
carefully as possible in a manner that does not cause trauma,
overheating, excessive cooling, behavioral stress, physical harm, or
unnecessary discomfort. [9 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1).]

During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is
minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public, with sufficient
distance and/or barriers between the animal and the general viewing
public so as to assure the safety of animals and the public. [9
C.F.R. § 2.131(c)(1).]

A responsible, knowledgeable, and readily identifiable employee
or attendant must be present at all times during periods of public
contact. [9 C.F.R. § 2.131(d)(2).]

When climatic conditions present a threat to an animal’s health or
well-being, appropriate measures must be taken to alleviate the
impact of those conditions. An animal must never be subjected to
any combination of temperature, humidity, and time that is
detrimental to the animal’s health and well-being, taking into
consideration such factors as the animal’s age, species, breed,
overall health status, and acclimation. [9 C.F.R. § 2.131(e).]

The Regulations define “handling” as

petting, feeding, watering, cleaning, manipulating, loading, crating,
shifting, transferring, immobilizing, restraining, treating, training,
working, and moving, or any similar activity with respect to any
animal. [9 C.F.R. § 1.1.]
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respondents’ primate building was in need of cleaning and
contained contaminated, fly-infested fruit. 9 C.F.R. § 3.75(¢).

d. Respondents failed to maintain enclosures for nonhuman
primates in good repair, and specifically, the fencing of the
enclosure housing three baboons was bowed, compromising its
structural strength. 9 C.F.R. § 3.80(a)(2)(iii).

e. Respondents failed to maintain enclosures for nonhuman
primates in good repair, and specifically, the chain that secured the
gate of the enclosure housing two macaques was rusted. 9 C.F.R. §
3.80(a)(2)(iii).

f. Respondents failed to maintain animal enclosures structurally
sound and in good repair so as to protect the animals from injury
and to contain them, and specifically, the fence separating the
enclosures housing fallow deer and Jacob’s sheep was in disrepair,
with bowed wire panels and separated wire. 9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a).

g. Respondents failed to maintain animal enclosures structurally
sound and in good repair so as to protect the animals from injury
and to contain them, and specifically, the fence of the enclosure
containing Santa Cruz sheep was in disrepair, with sharp wires
protruding inward and accessible to the animals. 9 C.F.R. §
3.125(a).

h. Respondents failed to provide sufficient shade to allow all
animals housed outdoors to protect themselves from direct
sunlight, and specifically, respondents ' enclosures for lions and
cougars lacked adequate shade for all of the animals. 9 C.F.R. §
3.127(a).

i. Respondents failed to provide a suitable method of drainage, and
specifically, the enclosure housing three Scottish Highland cattle
contained standing water and mud. 9 C.F.R. § 3.127(c).

j. Respondents failed to provide potable water to two woodchucks,
goats and sheep, and a coyote, as often as necessary for their health
and comfort, and with consideration for their age and condition. 9
C.F.R. § 3.130.

k. Respondents failed to clean enclosures housing a coyote, two
chinchillas, and two Patagonian cavies, as required. 9 C.F.R. §
3.131(a).
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Paragraph 12(e) is denied because there was no evidence that the
rust on the chain affected its structure at all. There is no evidence
as to the amount of the rust. A bit of rust in and of itself does not
mean there is a structural defect. Testimony of Mrs. Sellner, (Tr. p.
680). (See also CX-7, p. 3) which clearly shows many of the links
on the chain have no rust whatsoever.

The cited testimony by Mrs. Sellner supports that while the rather substantial chain may
have been aesthetically compromised by superficial rust, it was not structurally compromised,
and thus effectively rebuts APHIS’s contentions. APHIS did not carry its burden of proof as to
Complaint § 12(e).

5. Structural strength (9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a)).'”

Dr. Shaver explained the noncompliance with the Standards for structural strength and
construction and maintenance of animal facilities cited in the inspection report, and described the
contemporaneous photographs she took of the fence separating the fallow deer and Jacob's sheep
enclosures, and the fence for the Santa Cruz sheep.!”

On brief,'”* Respondents contend:

Paragraph 12(f) is contested to the extent that the defect mentioned
was not dangerous to the animals (bowed and separated wires) and
this was repaired immediately.

As discussed elsewhere herein subsequent repairs do not obviate violations. As to both

Complaint § 12(f) and (g), the cited APHIS testimony and evidence well support that a fence

173 Complaint 9 12(f),(g).
174 CX 2 at 3; CX 8; Tr. 60:21-63:11.
175 AB at 18.
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enclosures.' The APHIS’s witnesses recognized that the zoo had undertaken fly control efforts,

at least in some instances. %’

I find that APHIS’s witnesses, who are trained and experienced inspectors, reasonably
explained what excessive and a large number of flies were. I also find that their testimony
demonstrated that there were large numbers of flies at the time of the subject inspection. The fact
that Dr. Pries did not observe large numbers of flies at the time he was at the zoo, does not mean
that they were not present at the time of this inspection.

B. July 31,2013

The Complaint alleges that Respondents failed to meet the minimum standards as

follows:'%8

13. On or about July 31, 2013, respondents willfully violated the
Regulations, 9 C.F.R. § 2.100(a), by failing to meet the Standards,
as follows:

a. Respondents failed to provide guinea pigs with wholesome food,
and specifically, there was a mixture of bedding and fecal matter
inside the animals’ food receptacle. 9 C.F.R. § 3.29(a).

b. Respondents failed to store supplies of food in a manner that
protects them from spoilage, and specifically, among other things,
the food storage areas were dirty and in need of cleaning, with
rodent droppings, feces, and old food on the floor, the refrigerator
in a building housing nonhuman primates contained spiders. 9
C.F.R. §3.75(¢)."*

T 75,
197 Tr, 417 (Dr. Cooper).
198 Complaint § 13.

1991 find herein that Respondents did not incur any violation for having moldy fruit that would
not be fed to animals.
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sagging and detached from the fence post; (ii) there were gaps
between the panels of the perimeter fence; and (iii) there was no
perimeter fence around the camel enclosure that could function as
a secondary containment system. 9 C.F.R. § 3.127(d).

f. Respondents failed to keep feeders for coatimundi, wallabies,
coyotes, and pot-bellied pigs clean and sanitary, and the feeders for
these animals all bore a thick discolored build-up. 9 C.F.R. §
3.129(b).

g. Respondents failed to provide potable water to two sheep, a
capybara and a llama as often as necessary for their health and
comfort, and with consideration for their age and condition. 9

C.FR. § 3.130.

h. Respondents failed keep the premises and animal enclosures
clean, as required, and/or failed to remove excreta and/or food
debris from the primary enclosures housing two pot-bellied pigs,
capybara, coatimundi, serval, kinkajou, fennec fox, chinchillas,
Highland cattle, bears, Patagonian cavy, and African

crested porcupine. 9 C.F.R. §§ 3.125(d), 3.131(a), 3.131(c).

i. Respondents failed to establish and maintain an effective
program of pest control, as evidenced by (i) an excessive amount
of flies throughout the premises and in the animal enclosures,
including the enclosures for ferrets, kinkajou, Patagonian cavy,
bears, African crested porcupine, fennec fox, chinchillas, skunk,
sloth, and armadillo, (ii) evidence of spider activity throughout
the facility, and (iii) evidence of rodent activity, including rodent
feces in the food storage area, and a dead rat within the coyote
enclosure, 9 C.F.R. § 3.13I(d).

j- Respondents failed to employ a sufficient number of trained and
qualified personnel. 9 C.F.R. §§ 3.85, 3.132.

In their Answer, Respondents deny these allegations with explanations.
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Dr. Cole conducted a compliance inspection on this date and documented her
observations in a contemporaneous inspection report, as well as in numerous photographs.?’? She
described her occupation and her background, in particular with respect to nonhuman
primates.?> Dr. Cole testified about this inspection.?>

1. Cleaning for non-human primates (9 C.F.R. § 3.75(c)(3)).

Dr. Cole explained the noncompliance with the Standards for cleaning cited in the
inspection report and described the contemporaneous photographs she took of the housing
facilities for non-human primates.?%

On brief, Respondents assert that APHIS did not meet its burden of proof and challenge
APHIS’s use of the term “build-up” to describe Respondents’ facilities.>*® Respondents argue:

Paragraph 14(a) claims a failure to clean the facility because there
is a “build-up” of dust, dirt, debris and grime on the facilities. Dr.
Cooper did not precisely define what was meant by the term
“build-up” but seemed to indicate that it was a “thickening.” (Tr. P.
427). This is a puzzling definition and certainly not one a
layperson could understand. She testified that she expected some
dirt or debris when she goes on an inspection — she knows a Zoo or
other exhibitor is not going to be perfect. (Tr. P. 424). She testified
that piles of straw on the floor and cobwebs could happen
overnight. (Tr. P. 426). Mrs. Sellner disagreed with Dr. Cooper’s
assessment of the housekeeping. (See P. Sellner Affidavit CX-22,
p. 11). Mrs. Sellner also testified at trial that the primates can make
the kind of mess shown in (for example) (CX-40, p. 11) in 12 to 24
hours and she takes a leaf blower to the premises to clean it out
daily. (Tr. P. 688). The photographs do not demonstrate a buildup

232 CX 39; CX 40-49.
253 Tr. 237:25-243:25.

254 Tr, 250:24-297:11.
255 CX 39 at 1-2; CX 40; Tr. 251:9-258:13; 258:21-265:19.
256 AB at 25.
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of dirt or debris unless that term is defined as any dirt or debris.
(See CX-40 — CX-47. Douglas Anderson, IDALS inspector, in his
report stated that none of the housekeeping issues were “critical or
excessive.” (RXT-25, p. 5).%7
Contrary to Respondents’ argument, the evidence—including Dr. Cole’s inspection
report, photographs, and testimony—demonstrate a build-up of dust, dirt, and/or debris
throughout the facility. I find that the term “build-up,” as used in this case, means a “large
amount” or “accumulation”?*® indicating a “lack of cleaning.”**® Although Mr. Anderson stated
in his report that the housekeeping issues were not “critical or excessive,”?%’ the Regulations do
not a require such issues to be “critical or excessive,” only that the accumulation be excessive, in
order to constitute an AWA violation. ¢!
The preponderance of the evidence supports the alleged Complaint 14(a) violation.
2. Environmental enrichment for non-human primates (9 C.F.R. § 3.81).
Dr. Cole explained the noncompliance with the Standards for environmental enrichment

for non-human primates cited in the inspection report and described the contemporaneous

photographs she took of a macaque named Ana.?*?

257 AB at 25.
258 See Tr. 426:22-429:10.
259 Ty, 251:23-24.

260 RX 25 at 5 (“As for the rest of the facility . . . there were a number of housekeeping issues:
cobweb, sharp points (minor), fecal matter in some of the cages, etc. None of it critical or
excessive.”).

261 See 9 C.F.R. § 3.75(c)(3).
262 CX 39 at 2; CX 41; Tr. 265:20-270:6.
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Respondents’ Answer, § 14(b), denies the allegation, stating that “this animal came to the
Zoo with abnormal behavior” and “that she exhibited this behavior every time she came into
heat.”?®* On brief, Respondents contend:
Paragraph 14(b) is another situation involving an animal that came
to the Sellners with behavioral issues and the Sellners were
attempting to deal with this. (P. Sellner Tr. Pp. 690-691). She was
receiving environmental enhancement and this was being
documented by the licensee. (See Affidavit of Mrs. Sellner, CX-22
p. 12, see also RXT-3, pp. 1-2). Dr. Cooper admitted in her
testimony that Mrs. Sellner made progress with Obi and Ana. (Tr.
P. 421). Dr. Cole stated that Mrs. Sellner had an environmental
enrichment plan for the primates. (Tr. P 268). As of January 30,
2014, Ana had a perfect coat. (CX-22, p. 12).2¢4
The fact that Ana arrived at Respondents’ zoo already exhibiting abnormal behavior does
not obviate the need for an environmental enrichment program; the Standards require special
attention for non-human primates who “show signs of being in psychological distress through
behavior or appearance,” regardless of when or where those signs appeared.?®® Although Mrs.
Sellner’s affidavit states that Respondents “provided new additional enhancement toys™ and
“documented all of this in the enhancement plan,”?% that plan is dated November 20, 2013 and

was not in effect at the time of the inspection.?®’

263 Complaint § 14(a); Answer § 14(a).

264 AB at 25-26.

%59 CF.R. §9 C.FR. 3.81(c)2).

WX 22at12.

267 RX 3 at 1-2 (November 20, 2013 Primate Enrichment Program); Tr. 268:7-8.
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The preponderance of the evidence establishes that Respondents did not have an
environmental enhancement plan in place for Ana, a non-human primate who showed signs of
psychological distress, on the date in question. That Ana later had a “perfect coat” or Dr. Cooper
“made progress” with Ana did not eliminate Respondents’ duty to “develop, document, and
follow an appropriate plan for environment enhancement adequate to promote [Ana’s]
psychological well-being.”?%® I find that APHIS met its burden of proof as to Complaint § 14(b).

3. Pest control for non-human primates (9 C.F.R. § 3.84(d)).

Dr. Cole explained the noncompliance with the Standards for pest control for non-human
primates cited in the inspection report and described the contemporaneous photographs she took
of the spiders and cobwebs in the lemur enclosure and the primate building, as well as the flies
and rodents she observed.?*

Respondents deny the allegation. ?’° On brief, Respondents argue:

Paragraph 14(c) is denied for the reasons previously set forth
herein and for the further reason that the fact that there were some
flies, a couple of spiders and a mouse does not mean that effective
measures were not taken to eliminate them. Dr. Shaver testified
that you can take all the right measures to eliminate flies and still
have them. (Tr. p. 140). In addition, the inspectors have shown a
remarkable lack of knowledge about the differences between a
granddaddy long legs (which is an arachnid but does not spin a
web) and spiders which do spin webs. Dr. Baker apparently knows

there is a difference but doesn’t know what it is. (Tr. pp. 230-
23 l).27l

HEYCER.$3.81.
269 CX 39 at 2-3; CX 42 and CX 49; Tr. 270:7-272:2; 270:3-275:24.
270 Answer 9 14(c).
271 AB at 26.
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I find that the preponderance of the evidence supports the alleged violation.2* APHIS

met its burden of proof as to the Complaint § 14(d) allegation.
5. Perimeter fence (9 C.F.R. § 3.127(d)).

Dr. Cole explained the noncompliance with the Standards for perimeter fencing cited in
the inspection report and described the contemporaneous photographs she took of the
Respondents’ fencing.?%

Respondents’ Answer, § 14(e), denies the allegation, stating that “the APHIS inspectors
changed their official view about the barrier around the camel on this date. Prior to this date there
was no problem with the barrier.”?% On brief, Respondents argue:

Paragraph 14(e) is denied and the licensee further swore in her
Affidavit that the area has been like this for 10 years at the time of
the inspection. (CX-22, p. 14). There is now a newer 11 foot chain
link fence here. The camel had been next to the perimeter fence for
over a year and a half prior to this citation (when apparently it was
not a violation). (CX-22, p. 15).287

In her affidavit, Mrs. Sellner similarly states:

When I moved the camel into this area originally, he was next to the
perimeter fence. He had been in this enclosure for at least a year and
a half. No inspector had ever mentioned that he needed to have a
secondary fence and could not be against the perimeter fence. We

added a new fence line so the camel does not have access to the
perimeter fence so this has been corrected.?®

249 C.F.R. §3.81. ‘
285 CX 39 at 4; CX 44; Tr. 282:20-286:13.
286 Complaint § 14(e); Answer  14(e).
287 AB at 26-27.
MOCX22 at 15.
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inspection report and described the contemporaneous photographs she took of the water
receptacles in enclosures housing the capybara, one llama and two sheep.?*®
Respondents’ Answer, § 14(g), denies the allegation and further states that an “automatic
waterer was installed.”?*® On brief, Respondents contend: “With regard to paragraph 14(g) the
same response has been given to the lack of potable water is the response of the Respondents.
The animals were all given fresh water daily. There is no proof the water was not potable.”**
The photographs in the inspection report show significant build-up of what appears to be
green algae in the capybara water receptacle and yellow algae in the water receptacle located in
the pen housing one llama and two sheep.’®' This casts significant doubt on whether the animals
could have been provided fresh water daily, as Respondents suggest. If fresh water was indeed
provided daily, the presence of algae in receptacles should have alerted Respondents that the
water needed to be changed more frequently.’%?
The preponderance of the evidence supports the alleged Complaint § 14(g) violation.
8. Waste disposal (9 C.F.R. § 3.125(d)).
Although {14(h) of the Complaint cites a violation of 9 C.F.R. § 3.125(d), APHIS did

not— either in its briefs or at hearing—establish a connection between Respondents’

28 CX 39 at 5; CX 46; Tr. 289:22-290:24.
2% Complaint § 14(f); Answer § 14(f).

300 AB at 27.

301 CX 46 at 1-4; Tr. 288:18-289:21.

302 See 9 C.F.R. § 3.130 (“If potable water is not accessible to the animal at all times, it must be
provided as often as necessary for the health and comfort of the animal. . . All water receptacles
shall be kept clean and sanitary.”).
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Respondents admit “the plywood had been knocked down” but claim “it posed no danger
and has been repaired.””® While the wind break (“plywood™) might not have presented an
immediate danger, it could not protect the sheep from the elements in its broken state. Plainly,
the Santa Cruz sheep enclosure was not maintained in good repair.

Based on the foregoing, I find that APHIS has carried its burden as to Complaint § 15(c).

E. May 21,2014

The Complaint alleges that Respondents failed to meet the minimum standards as
follows:*"*

16. On or about May 21, 2014, respondents willfully violated the
Regulations, 9 C.F.R. § 2.100(a), by failing to meet the Standards,

as follows:

a. Respondents failed to clean enclosures housing three wolf
hybrids as required. 9 C.F.R. § 3.1(c)(3).

b. Respondents failed to store supplies of bedding for guinea pigs
in facilities that protect them from deterioration, spoilage, or
infestation or contamination by vermin. 9 C.F.R. § 3.25(c).

c. Respondents failed to provide potable water to four guinea pigs
as required. 9 C.F.R. § 3.30.

d. Respondents failed to transfer four guinea pigs to a clean
primary enclosure when the bedding in their enclosure became
damp and soiled to the extent that it was moist and clumping,
and uncomfortable to the four guinea pigs. 9 C.F.R. §
3.31(a)(2).

e. Respondents failed to clean the premises adjacent to the
enclosure housing four guinea pigs, as required. 9 C.F.R. §

3.31 (b).

33 AB at 29.
37 Complaint § 16.
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9. Watering (9 C.F.R. § 3.130)).*

Dr. Cole explained the alleged noncompliance with the Standards for watering cited in
the inspection report, and described the contemporaneous photographs she took.*!* On brief,*'®
Respondents contend:

With regard to paragraph 16(n), the degus are basically food for
the reptiles. They were watered the day before. The complaints
about the water in the galvanized steel containers has been
addressed previously and some animals get their water bowls dirty
and add debris to them. (P. Sellner Tr. pp. 651-652).

Whether or not the degus were “basically food for the reptiles,” the evidence is clear that
they were deprived of sufficient water. CX 69 at 7 recites far more than feed such as would fall
from an animal’s mouth in the water provided for the various animals, including “debris and/or
feces” and “bedding.”

This evidence supports the finding of the violations as alleged in Complaint § 16(n).

10. Cleaning (9 C.F.R. § 3.131(a)).*""
Dr. Cole explained the alleged noncompliance with the Standards for cleaning cited in the

inspection report, and described the contemporaneous photographs she took of multiple

enclosures.*!® On brief,*'® Respondents contend:

414 Complaint § 16(n).
415 CX 69 at 7-8; CX 69a at 68-70; Tr. 343:9-345:39.
416 AB at 32-33.
417 Complaint 9§ 16(0).
418 CX 69 at 8; CX 69a at 71-94; Tr. 345:12-346:10; 347:1-351:13.
419 AB at 33.
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With regard to paragraph 16(0), there is little detail about what a
buildup is. The Sellners have testified that they daily clean the pens
for excreta and food waste. (Tom Sellner Tr. p. 607). The key
question is whether there is excessive food waste and feces in these
enclosures and the photographs supplied (CX-69A, p. 71) which
purports to show a buildup of waste shows a tiny portion of a large
enclosure and (CX-69A, p. 72) shows a small portion of the bear
enclosure—do not support this allegation. (There are other
photographs in the CX-69A series that take the same approach-
extreme closeups of small areas in large enclosures.[)]

Even if the cited photographs were misleading, and given the other evidence, I do not
find that they are, there is more evidence than simply these photographs as to excessive food
waste and feces in various animal enclosures. There are contemporaneous written reports of Dr.
Cole and her live testimony.*?° I find her to be highly credible as to cleanliness with no motive or
intent to present misleading photographs. Mr. Sellner did testify, Tr. 607, that the pens are
cleaned daily, but the weight of the evidence is that the cleaning is not sufficient to meet the
applicable standards.

The evidence supports the finding of the violations as alleged in Complaint § 16(0).

11. Housekeeping (9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c)).**'
Dr. Cole explained the alleged noncompliance with the Standards for housekeeping cited

in the inspection report, and described the contemporaneous photographs she took of multiple

420 See also RX 25 at 8, which is the report of Mr. Anderson of IDALS as to dirty conditions at
the Zoo as of the May 21, 2014 inspection.

21 Complaint § 16(p).
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See CX 71 at 2 for the report on this alleged violation.

“Massive boulders” is an exaggeration. The photos show large rocks. The report states
issues of structural soundness and that the facility should be kept in good repair. The evidence
shows a lack of structural soundness and a lack of good repair. The evidence supports a finding
of the alleged Complaint § 17(d) violation.

5. Paragraph 17(e).
Respondents admitted this alleged violation.
6. Paragraph 17(f).

Respondents contend:*3*

Paragraph 17(f) with regard to “pests” is denied based upon the
testimony of the witnesses and the failure of the USDA to establish
any meaningful standard other than a purely subjective approach to
this matter.

See CX 71 at 3. Excessive flies have been a recurring issue.

[ find that the USDA standard on elimination of pests is not purely subjective and the
weight of the evidence is that Respondents have ongoing problems with excessive flies and
conditions that could prompt problems with other pests. APHIS proved the allegations of
Complaint § 17(f).

7. Paragraph 17(g).

Respondents contend:**

Paragraph 17(g) is admitted to the extent that the fence is curled up
but it is denied to the extent that the description is of sharp points

434 AB at 35.
435 1d
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h. Respondents failed to provide adequate ventilation in the
building housing chinchillas, kinkajous, fennec foxes, and African
crested porcupines. 9 C.F.R. § 3.126(b).

i. Respondents failed to provide adequate shelter from inclement
weather for two Highland cattle and two beef cattle. 9 C.F.R. §
3.127(b).

j. Respondents failed to provide a suitable method of drainage, and
specifically, the enclosures housing fifty animals (three pot-bellied
pigs, one camel, thirty-five Jacob's sheep, two Meishan pigs, three
llamas, four cattle, one zebu, and one llama) were essentially
covered in mud and/or standing water, to the extent that the
aforementioned animals were required to stand in water and/or
mud in order to access food. 9 C.F.R. § 3.127(c).

k. Respondents failed keep the premises and animal enclosures
clean, as required, and/or failed to remove excreta and/or food
debris from the primary enclosures housing multiple animals (a
black bear, chinchillas, degus, two raccoons, two kinkajous, serval,
coatimundi, fennec foxes, and African crested porcupines). 9
C.F.R. §§ 3.125(d), 3.131(a), 3.131(c).

l. Respondents failed to establish and maintain an effective
program of pest control, as evidenced by (i) the large number of
flies within the bear shelter, on the floor of the enclosure housing
two raccoons, and surrounding the enclosure housing two
kinkajou; (ii) the presence of maggots in the waste observed in the
kinkajou enclosure; and (iii) rodent droppings in the food storage
room and the “reptile” room. 9 C.F.R. § 3.131(d).

Dr. Cole testified extensively about her inspection on May 27, 2015, the inspection report
that she wrote, and the many contemporaneous photographs that she took of the deficiencies that

she found.*’!

1 CX 76; Tr. 356:19-383:2.
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in an unfair or unduly discriminatory manner. As Dr. Gibbens testified:**” “[A] facility with
direct noncompliance and a lot of non-compliances is in our highest inspection frequency in the
risk-based inspection system.” The record provides no support for a contention that increased
frequency of inspections of the Respondents was unwarranted or that those inspections were
carried out with undue fervor.

C. Respondents’ Contentions Concerning Subsequent Correction of Noncompliance

It is well-settled subsequent corrections do not obviate violations.***

Tri-State and Mr. Candy's corrections of their violations do not
eliminate the fact that the violations occurred, and the
Administrator is not barred from instituting a proceeding for
violations of the Animal Welfare Act and the Regulations after the
violations have been corrected.

Dr. Gibbens explained that a licensee’s inability to identify and correct problems, without waiting

for APHIS to point them out, is also an improper drain of APHIS resources:**

Q With respect to corrections following citations by the
Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, how does a regular
practice of correcting only after APHIS has cited a facility play
into the agency's ability to enforce the Animal Welfare Act?

committed repeated violations over many inspections; therefore, the record supports a
determination that Respondent is a “habitual violator.”)).

47 Tr. 546

98 Tri-State Zoological Park of W. Md., Inc., 72 Agric. Dec. 128, 175 (U.S.D.A. 2013) (citing
Pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. 685, 727-28 (U.S.D.A. 2009), aff'd, 411 F. App'x 866 (6th Cir. 2011));
Bond, 65 Agric. Dec. 92, 109 (U.S.D.A. 2006), aff’d per curiam, 275 F. App'x 547 (8th Cir.
2008); Drogosch, 63 Agric. Dec. 623, 643 (U.S.D.A. 2004); Parr, 59 Agric. Dec. 601, 644
(U.S.D.A. 2000), aff'd per curiam, 273 F.3d 1095 (5th Cir. 2001) (Table); DeFrancesco, 59
Agric. Dec. 97, 112 n.12 (U.S.D.A. 2000); Huchital, 58 Agric. Dec. 763, 805 n.6 (U.S.D.A.
1999); Stephens, 58 Agric. Dec. 149, 18485 (U.S.D.A. 1999).

489 Tr, 726:11-727:14.
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and do not demonstrate any ill-feeling toward or lack of emotional caring about the animals
involved or about the safety of the public, the violations have been substantial in number and
recurring in the sense of new violations being found in frequent new inspections rather than the
exact same uncorrected violations being found inspection to inspection. The record shows a
facility that is not at all consistently meeting the minimum AWA requirements, even though it
has received significant attention from ;‘\PHIS inspectors. Moreover, the Respondents have not
obtained more help in order to meet the USDA requirements, even as they have continued to
obtain additional animals. A fine of $10,000 is hardly excessive under the AWA standards and
more than a fine is warranted in these circumstances. Revocation is necessary under the
circumstances shown in this record.

FINDINGS OF FACT

L. The Secretary of Agriculture has jurisdiction in this AWA administrative
enforcement matter. 7 U.S.C. §§ 2149(a), (b).

2 Cricket Hollow Zoo, Inc. (“CHZI”), is an Iowa corporation whose agent for
service of process is Respondent Pamela J. Sellner, 1512 210" Street, Manchester, lowa 52057.
At all times mentioned in the complaint, CHZI was an exhibitor, as that term is defined in the
AWA and the Regulations, did not hold an AWA license and, together with the other
Respondents, operated a zoo exhibiting wild and exotic animals at Manchester, lowa. Answer §
I

& Pamela J. Sellner is an individual doing business as Cricket Hollow Zoo, and
whose business address is 1512 210" Street, Manchester, [owa 52057. At all times mentioned in

the complaint, Mrs. Sellner was an exhibitor as that term is defined in the AWA and the
139
























enclosures for lions and cougars lacked adequate shade for all of the animals. CX 2; CX
9.

i. Respondents failed to provide a suitable method of drainage, and
specifically, the enclosure housing three Scottish Highland cattle contained standing
water and mud. CX 2; CX 10.

)| Respondents failed to provide potable water to two woodchucks, goats and
sheep, and a coyote, as often as necessary for their health and comfort, and with
consideration for their age and condition. CX 2; CX 11.

k. Respondents failed to clean enclosures housing a coyote, two chinchillas,
and two Patagonian cavies, as required. CX 2; CX 12,

L Respondents failed to establish and maintain an effective program of pest
control, as evidenced by the large amount of flies in the enclosures housing two tigers, an
armadillo, and a sloth. CX 2; CX 13.

17.  On July 31, 2013, APHIS inspector Dr. Jeffrey Baker documented noncompliance
with the Standards, as follows:

a. Respondents failed to provide guinea pigs with wholesome food, and
specifically, there was a mixture of bedding and fecal matter inside the animals’ food
receptacle. CX 26; CX 28.

b. Respondents failed to store supplies of food in a manner that protects them
from spoilage, and specifically, among other things, the food storage areas were dirty and

in need of cleaning, with rodent droppings, feces, and old food on the floor, the
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rodents, including a live mouse, in the building housing two macaques, one vervet, and
three baboons. CX 39; CX 42.

d. Respondents failed to provide a suitable method of drainage in four
enclosures, housing: two potbellied pigs, one fallow deer, two Meishan pigs, and two
bears. CX 39; CX 43.

e. Respondents failed to enclose their zoo by an adequate perimeter fence of
sufficient height and constructed in a manner so as to protect the animals, and to keep
animals and unauthorized persons from having contact with the animals, and that could
function as a secondary containment system, specifically (i) a portion of perimeter'
fencing adjacent to exotic felids, bears and wolves was sagging and detached from the
fence post; (ii) there were gaps between the panels of the perimeter fence; and (iii) there
was no perimeter fence around the camel enclosure that could function as a secondary
containment system. CX 39; CX 44.

f. Respondents failed to keep feeders for coatimundi, wallabies, coyotes, and
pot-bellied pigs clean and sanitary, and the feeders for these animals all bore a thick
discolored build-up. CX 39; CX 45.

g Respondents failed to provide potable water to two sheep, a capybara and
a llama as often as necessary for their health and comfort, and with consideration for their
age and condition. CX 39; CX 46.

h. Respondents failed keep the premises and animal enclosures clean, as

required, and/or failed to remove excreta and/or food debris from the primary enclosures
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L Respondents failed to establish and maintain an effective program of pest
control, as evidenced by (i) the large number of flies within the bear shelter, on the floor
of the enclosure housing two raccoons, and surrounding the enclosure housing two
kinkajou; (ii) the presence of maggots in the waste observed in the kinkajou enclosure;
and (iii) rodent droppings in the food storage room and the “reptile” room. CX 76; CX
76a at 107-109.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. On January 9, 2014, May 12, 2014, and February 19, 2015, at Manchester, Iowa,

Respondents willfully violated the AWA and the Regulations governing access for inspections (7
U.S.C. § 2146(a); 9 C.F.R. § 2.126).

2. On or about the following dates, Respondents willfully violated the Regulations
governing attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (9 C.F.R. § 2.40), by failing to
provide adequate veterinary care to the following animals and/or failing to establish programs of
adequate veterinary care that included the availability of appropriate facilities, personnel,
equipment, equipment and services, and/or the use of appropriate methods to prevent, control,
and treat diseases and injuries, and/or daily observation of animals, and a mechanism of direct
and frequent communication in order to convey timely and accurate information about animals to
the attending veterinarian, and/or adequate guidance to personnel involved in animal care:

a. June 12, 2013. A capuchin monkey (Cynthia) had visible areas of hair loss
on her abdomen, tail, thighs and arms, and was observed to be chewing on her tail, and

Respondents had not had Cynthia seen by their attending veterinarian. 9 C.F.R. §§

2.40(a), 2.40(b)(1), 2.40(b)(2).
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f. May 21, 2014. Respondents failed to communicate to the attending
veterinarian that a thin capybara had unexplained areas of scaly skin and hair loss around
the base of its tail and on its backbone, and Respondents failed to have the animal seen by
a veterinarian. 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.40(a), 2.40(b)(1), 2.40(b)(2), 2.40(b)(3).

g May 21, 2014. Respondents failed td provide adequate veterinary care to
animals, and specifically, the hooves of a Barbados sheep were excessively long. 9
C.F.R. §§ 2.40(a), 2.40(b)(1), 2.40(b)(2), 2.40(b)(3).

h. August 5. 2014. Respondents failed to provide adequate veterinary
medical care to a female Old English Sheepdog (Macey) who had large red sores behind
both ears, and Macey was observed to be shaking her head and scratching those areas.
Respondents did not communicate with their attending veterinarian about Macey and did
not obtain any veterinary care for Macey. Instead, Respondents represented that they
were treating Macey themselves with an antiseptic ointment. The ointment that
Respondents said that they used had expired in October 2007. 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.40(a),
2.40(b)(1), 2.40(b)(2), 2.40(b)(3).

i. August 25, 2014-October 7, 2014. Respondents failed to provide adequate
veterinary medical care to a tiger (Casper). On August 25, 2014, Casper was evaluated by
Respondents’ attending veterinarian because he was thin and had cuts and sores on his
face and legs. Respondents’ attending veterinarian did not make any diagnosis,
recommend any treatment, or prescribe any medication for Casper at that time. On

October 7, 2014, APHIS observed that Casper had a large open wound on the inside of

163



his left front leg. The wound had not been treated in any manner. Casper was also

observed to be thin, with mildly protruding hips and vertebrae. Between August 25, 2014,

and October 7, 2014, Respondents had not had Casper seen by a veterinarian, and Casper

had received no veterinary care, save Respondents’ administration of a dewormer in

September 2014. 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.40(a), 2.40(b)(1), 2.40(b)(2), 2.40(b)(3).

3 On or about the following dates, Respondents willfully violated the Regulations
governing the handling of animals:

a. July 31, 2013. Respondents (1) failed to handle animals as carefully as
possible, in a manner that does not cause behavioral stress, physical harm, or unnecessary
discomfort, (2) during exhibition, failed to handle animals so that there was minimal risk
of harm to the animals and the public, with sufficient distance and/or barriers between the
animals and the public so as to ensure the safety of the animals and the public, and (3)
failed to have any employee or attendant present while the public had public contact with
Respondents’ animals, including, inter alia, a camel, goats, sheep, and other hoofstock. 9
C.F.R. §§ 2.131(b)(1), 2.131(c)(1), 2.131(d)(2).

b. October 26, 2013. Respondents failed to handle Meishan pigs as carefully
as possible, in a rr.lanner that does not cause excessive cooling, physical harm, or
unnecessary discomfort, and specifically, Respondents left a female Meishan pig that was
about to farrow, outdoors in the cold, whereupon the pig gave birth to four piglets, three

of whom died while housed outdoors by the Respondents. 9 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1).
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3.125(a), and specifically, (i) the enclosure housing cattle (one Watusi and one zebu) had
broken fencing, (ii) the chain-link fencing of the enclosures housing approximately forty
sheep, one fallow deer, two tigers and two cougars were in disrepair, with curled chain
link at the bottom with sharp points that protruded into the enclosures and were
accessible to the animals, and (iii) the windbreak at the back of the shelter housing Santa
Cruz sheep was in disrepair.
8. On or about May 21, 2014, Respondents willfully violated the Regulations, 9
C.F.R. § 2.100(a), by failing to meet the Standards, as follows:

a. Respondents failed to clean enclosures housing three wolf hybrids as
required. 9 C.F.R. § 3.1(c)(3).

b. Respondents failed to store supplies of bedding for guinea pigs in facilities
that protect them from deterioration, spoilage, or infestation or contamination by vermin.
9 C.F.R. § 3.25(c).

ci Respondents failed to provide potable water to four guinea pigs as
required. 9 C.F.R. § 3.30.

d. Respondents failed to transfer four guinea pigs to a clean primary
enclosure when the bedding in their enclosure became damp and soiled to the extent that
it was moist and clumping, and uncomfortable to the four guinea pigs. 9 C.F.R. §
3.31(@)(2).

e. Respondents failed to clean the premises adjacent to the enclosure housing

four guinea pigs, as required. 9 C.F.R. § 3.31(b).
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ferrets, two kinkajous, tigers, and bears; and by a build-up of bird feces on the shelters for

bobcats and skunks. C.F.R. § 3.131(d).

‘9. On or about August 5, 2014, Respondents willfully violated the Regulations, 9
C.F.R. § 2.100(a), by failing to meet the Standards, as follows:

a. Respondents failed to clean enclosures housing two wolf hybrids as
required. 9 C.F.R. § 3.1(c)(3).

b. Respondents failed to provide potable water to two dogs as often as
necessary for their health and comfort, and specifically, the dogs’ water receptacle
cdntained a build-up of algae, dirt and debris. 9 C.F.R. § 3.10.

¢.  Respondents failed to establish and maintain an effective program of pest
control for dogs, as evidenced by the excessive number of flies observed on the waste and
on the ground in the enclosure housing two wolf-hybrids, and one of the wolf hybrids had
sores that Respondents attributed to flies. 9 C.F.R. § 3.1 1(d).

d. Respondents’ enclosures housing three baboons were in disrepair, with
broken wood panels and support boards. 9 C.F.R. § 3.75(a).

-3 Respondents failed to clean two enclosures housing nonhuman primates as
required, and specifically, the cloth hanging nesting bags for bush babies were soiled and
in need of cleaning. 9 C.F.R. § 3.75(c)(3).

f. Respondents failed to establish and maintain an effective program of pest
control, as evidenced by the large amount of flies in the primate building and adjacent to

the lemur enclosures. 9 C.F.R. § 3.84(d).
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g. Respondents failed to maintain animal enclosures structurally sound and
in good repair so as to protect the animals from injury and to contain them, and
specifically, the enclosures housing a sloth and Santa Cruz sheep, and the fence
separating the camel and sheep enclosures, were all in disrepair. 9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a).

h. Respondents failed to provide a suitable method of drainage, and
specifically, the enclosures housing three pot-bellied pigs and two Meishan pigs
contained standing water. 9 C.F.R. § 3.127(c).

i Respondents failed to provide potable water to a capybara and three
raccoons as often as necessary for their health and comfort, and with consideration for
their age and condition. 9 C.F.R. § 3.130.

i Respondents failed to remove excreta and debris from the primary
enclosures housing eighty-eight (88) animals, as required. 9 C.F.R. § 3.131(a).

k. Respondents failed to establish and maintain an effective program of pest
control, as evidenced by the excessive amount of flies in the enclosures housing a
Patagonian cavy, a capybara, three pot-bellied pigs, two Meishan pigs, five cattle, seven
tigers, one cougar, and two lions. C.F.R. § 3.131(d).

10.  On or about October 7, 2014, Respondents willfully violated the Regulations, 9
§ 2.100(a), by failing to meet the Standards, as follows:
a. Respondents failed to maintain animal enclosures structurally sound and

in good repair so as to protect the animals from injury and to contain them, and
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ORDER

1. Respondents, their agents and employees, successors and assigns, directly or
through any corporate or other device, shall cease and desist from violating the AWA and the
Regulations and Standards issued thereunder.

2. AWA license number 42-C-0084 is hereby revoked.

3. Respondents are jointly and severally assessed a civil penalty of $10,000, to be paid in
full no later than 120 days after the effective date of this order, by check (or checks) made
payable to USDA/APHIS and remitted by U.S. Mail addressed to USDA, APHIS,
Miscellaneous, P.O. Box 979043, St. Louis, MO 63197-9000.

4. Each check shall include a docket number for this proceeding, 15-0152.

5. This Decision and Order shall be final and effective without further proceedings thirty-
five (35) days after service unless an appeal to the Judicial Officer is filed with the Hearing Clerk
within thirty (30) days after service, pursuant to Section 1.145 of the Rules of Practice.’!’

Copies of this Decision and Order shall be served upon the parties.

Issued this 30th day of November 2017 in Washington, D.C.

Channing D. St r
Administrative Law Judge

5177 C.FR. § 1.145.
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Hearing Clerk’s Office

Office of Administrative Law Judges

United States Department of Agriculture
South Building, Room 1031-S

1400 Independence Ave, SW

Washington, DC 20250

Phone: 202-720-4443

Fax: 202-720-9776
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